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Railway map of Lincolnshire in 1920 at the peak of the system. The only lines not shown are the Edenham and Little Bytham Railway and the Alford and Sutton Tramway, both of which closed before the end of the nineteenth century.
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Introduction and Acknowledgements


It has been a great privilege to be asked to write this description of the railways of Lincolnshire, but it would not have been possible without all the work that has been put in, and continues to be done, by many authors and local railway historians. Large numbers have worked on various local projects but special mention must be made of Alf Ludlam, Stewart Squires, John Rhodes, Stephen Walker, C. T. Goode and the late John Ruddock, whose works have been particularly valuable.


Pictures have come from many sources, and I can only hope that due credit has been given for all those that have been used. I have been particularly grateful to John Foreman, Stuart Ray, Michael Barratt, John Meredith, Graham Lightfoot, M. Cook, Ray Heppenstall, John Fisher, David and John Ford, Brian Rose, Richard Goodman, P. Loftis and Jack Overton or to their friends or families for permission to use some of their original works.


I have also been fortunate to be able to make use of the collections held by David Robinson, Rod Knight, John Musselwhite, Stuart Gibbard, Bryan Longbone and Mrs Scott, as well as for material held in the archives of the National Railway Museum, and of Lincolnshire, North-East Lincolnshire and North Lincolnshire Councils.


Every effort has been made to ensure that copyright material has been approved and acknowledged in this book. Any errors and oversights should be referred to the writer, and will be corrected in later editions


I am very grateful to Rod Knight, Adam Cartwright and Mike Hartley for their efforts to ensure that I have not made too many silly errors, but I should add that any that remain are entirely my responsibility.


I must also thank Sue, my wife, for her tolerance at various times during the writing and compilation of this work and for her continuing interest in railways, despite my not entirely keeping my promise that we would not live in a museum when we moved into Woodhall Junction!




CHAPTER 1


Lincolnshire Before the Railways


A Difficult County for Travellers
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General topography of Lincolnshire.





Communications in Lincolnshire before the railways was a matter of ancient routes and even older waterways. Our main highways still follow the roads that the Romans built two millennia ago, and a county where much of the land was frequently inundated found water transport an invaluable and sometimes essential way to get around.


This historic county has always presented difficulties to the traveller. The large areas of the Fens in the south-east, the Carrs of the Isle of Axholme at the opposite corner, and the marshes along much of the coast were constantly changing areas of mud, water and soggy bits of land, with few easily discernible ways through them. Most land routes, therefore, followed the limestone spine of the Heath and Cliff or the higher lands of the chalk Wolds in the north-east.


The influence of the Romans is very clear. The major north–south route within the county follows parts of Ermine Street, King Street and Mareham Lane from near Peterborough, through Sleaford and Lincoln, to the Humber close to Winteringham. The A46, still the main access to Lincoln from the west, follows the line of the Fosse Way as it strikes diagonally from Newark through Lincoln towards the north-eastern coast. From Lincoln to the coast, the road curves around the northern edge of the Fens to the Roman Banovallum – Horncastle – then on towards Wainfleet and what may well have been a Roman port, now lost to the sea, near Skegness. Other key routes include Tillbridge Lane, from just north of Lincoln to what was a ford over the Trent at Marton; more of Ermine Street through Ancaster towards Stamford; and the Salt or Salters Way – now the A52 – from near Grantham across the Bridge End Causeway to Donington, then towards the salt workings on the coast or in the marshes. It may also have served a port in Bicker Haven, then open to the sea.
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Roman and other old routes in Lincolnshire.





Many other Roman roads and tracks have been identified, but it is likely that a number of them followed existing Iron Age or earlier track-ways. The Salt Way was almost certainly pre-Roman, and although the arrow-straight line of Ermine Street suggests that it was new in Roman times, it closely follows the older Jurassic Way cliff-edge paths of Middle Street and Pottergate. Caistor High Street, running north from Horncastle to Caistor, is almost certainly pre-Roman, as are the Bluestones Heath Road and Bartongate, along the edge of the Marsh. Mareham Lane could also have been in use before the Roman occupation.


Where the Iron Age salt merchants and the Roman legions failed to penetrate on land, they, and the locals, took to the water. The Witham itself, running north from near Grantham before turning through the Lincoln Gap then south to the Wash, with its tributaries the Slea, the Bain and the Brant, would have been the main water ‘highway’ into, and around, the county; but the other fenland rivers – Welland, Glen and Nene – remained important routes well into modern times. In the north, the Ancholme, the Trent and the Idle were all significant waterways, but a great deal of water traffic would simply have been along the creeks and lagoons of the Fens and marshes. Lincoln’s museum, the Collection, has a fine log boat found in the muds of the Witham, along with records of many similar vessels, and archaeological finds such as the Witham Shield, now in the British Museum, suggest that the waterways of the county had a strong religious significance, as well as facilitating travel in the county.


The Romans also made good use of the waterways, constructing the Foss Dyke linking the Witham at Lincoln and the Trent near Torksey. They are also the most probable diggers of the long cut known as the Carr Dyke, running along the fen edge from near Peterborough to Lincoln. It seems likely this was mainly a catch-water drain, taking water coming off the higher land to prevent it flooding into the Fens, which appear to have been drier in Roman times. It may have been used for transport, but the evidence is scanty. Excavations in Lincoln show it was an important centre for waterborne transport. Bawtry, on the Idle, was also a Roman port; Spalding and Bourne may well have been, and there seems little doubt that they made good use of the fenland waterways as well.


Doing as the Romans Did


All these options meant that Lincolnshire in about the third or fourth century ad had a reasonably comprehensive network of communications covering much of the county. Unfortunately, that was about where it stopped for the next few hundred years. The old roads remained, although opportunistic locals mined the Roman surfaces for their stone, but very little changed. New fenland routes linked growing settlements on the low ridges of dry land between the marsh and the fen from Spalding through Holbeach to Long Sutton and along the silt ridge from Boston towards Wainfleet. The influence of the landscape is clear from those roads and the path of what is now the A16, running due south from Spilsby to Boston through the ‘islands’ of Stickney and Sibsey. It follows the line of a glacial moraine, a low ridge of clay and stones marking the furthest limit of the last Ice Age in the area.


Through medieval times the pack-horse and the ox-drawn wagon would have been the main means of land transport in the county. It would probably be fair to say that very few people travelled any distance in what became a region of small market towns, spaced out according to how far it was practical to drive livestock and return within a day.


The rivers remained important, although the lack of central authority saw the Foss Dyke fall into disrepair, the Witham was often unnavigable for long periods and the fenland rivers frequently silted up. Lincoln and Stamford remained as important regional centres, and Boston became a major port, with a hinterland largely served by water transport. It developed an important role in trading wool to the Continent, often produced by the great monastic houses to be found all over Lincolnshire. Other smaller ports along the county’s coast thrived in medieval times on trades of fish, salt, peat and other goods, along the English coasts and to the near Continent.
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A peat bog on the Isle of Axholme. Much of Lincolnshire would have been similar to this before large-scale drainage. LINCOLNSHIRE WILDLIFE TRUST





The reclamation of the Fens, the Isle of Axholme and the Ancholme Carrs in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries improved communications there, since many of the new drains were navigable, allowing the transport of goods and people. Agricultural produce was the main traffic, but the rising populations of the Fens in particular saw a demand for packet boats into Boston, as well as market boats – in effect mobile water-borne shops. That traffic continued well into the twentieth century, supplemented in many areas by small-scale producers of commodities like milk, butter and eggs, taking them to the market towns by boat.


Rivers and Canals


The drainage work had the incidental benefit of improving the major rivers for navigation, with the Witham Navigation completed by 1770 and work carried out to improve through passage to the Foss Dyke a few years later. The Trent, the Glen, the Ancholme, the Bourne Eau and the Welland also saw increased use following improvement works.


Canal mania came early to Lincolnshire – the Louth Canal was planned in the 1750s, although it did not reach the town until 1770. The Sleaford Navigation and the Horncastle Canals were opened later in that century, although both were effectively canalized rivers that had been used by boats in the past. The Grantham Canal was a more serious engineering proposition, needing to cut through a ridge between the town and the Trent Valley before dropping steeply down a flight of locks to join the river itself near Nottingham. The Caistor Canal also required significant engineering works, with six locks in its 4-mile (6km) length, which probably accounted for it never reaching its intended terminus on Navigation Lane at Caistor, but petering out at Moortown, 3 miles (4km) away.


Despite that relative failure, the planned role of the canal, as laid out in the following quote from the prospectus, gave a good indication of the thinking behind all of Lincolnshire’s waterway projects, and that of most of the railways that followed.


By this canal, and the Ancholme Navigation, the surplus agricultural produce of the north of Lincolnshire is exported; and coal, agricultural lime, and general merchandise is the return to Caistor and its neighbourhood.
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Turnpike roads and navigable waterways by the early 1800s.





At roughly the same time that the waterways were being upgraded, the same was happening on the roads. The old system of repair under which every local inhabitant was required to spend four days a year working on the roads, providing his own tools and transport, was never going to result in satisfactory surfaces. A partial solution was the introduction of Turnpike Trusts, with repairs paid for by tolls charged to users. Lincolnshire joined the turnpike revolution in 1726, when part of the Great North Road near Grantham was taken, followed a few years later by a further stretch south towards Stamford. Most Lincolnshire turnpikes, however, were established in the second half of the century. Toll bridges were an important part of the process, with Dunham Bridge opened in 1756 over the Trent on the road from Lincoln into Nottinghamshire, followed in 1791 by Gainsborough, also over the Trent, and Tattershall, over the Witham, in 1795. Two other bridges, Fosdyke and Cross Keys, over the Welland and Nene, respectively, were available to travellers by the early years of the next century.


Faster by Road


The new roads not only allowed goods to move more freely, they also permitted speedier travel, with stagecoaches running from Lincoln to London in 1784 and extended to the Humber a few years later. By 1820, a network of coaches covered much of the county, bringing with them some of the best-known inns and hotels to be found in the county.


As the railway age dawned elsewhere in Britain, it could reasonably be claimed that Lincolnshire’s communications were very nearly back to being as good as they had been during Roman times, and looked very similar. The system in the Fens was better, and a route across the north of the county, from Gainsborough to Louth by way of Caenby Corner and Market Rasen, was in regular use. Lincoln, Stamford, Grantham, Boston, Spalding, Brigg, Barton-upon-Humber and Gainsborough were well-established centres. Louth had become a more important communication centre, and Grimsby was growing rapidly after action had been taken to clear the Haven and to build new dock facilities.


The Agricultural Revolution had transformed the county’s main industry, as draining and enclosures made more land available, and better farming systems saw lower-quality pastures put under the plough for the first time. The need for improved agricultural implements to work that land also drove the Industrial Revolution in the county as small-scale blacksmiths, wheelwrights, tool-makers and foundries diversified into manufacturing what was needed. Wheelwright John Cooke built ploughs in Lincoln; foundryman William Howden of Boston constructed the county’s first portable steam engine; millwright James Hart built threshing machines at Brigg; and blacksmith’s apprentice Richard Hornsby made an adjustable harrow in his employer’s forge near Grantham.


All of these entrepreneurs, and the farming industry that they served, were in need of efficient, reliable transport to bring in raw materials and to take away produce and manufactured items. The county was ready for the railways.




CHAPTER 2


Dreams, Schemes and Competition


Mind the Gap?


Lincolnshire itself was not an obvious early target for railway promoters. The large area and widely distributed populations offered few opportunities to link population centres with passenger services or to develop a substantial flow of goods. The first line that we would now recognize as a railway opened between Stockton and Darlington in 1825, but no trains would run in Lincolnshire for another twenty years. However, one geographical feature in the county did attract a great deal of attention from early promoters, planners and surveyors: the Lincoln Gap, a break in the limestone ridge running north and south through the county, offered a level route for lines from London to the north, and compared favourably with the existing lines by way of Derby and Rugby. As far back as 1821 it had been suggested that the proposed London and Cambridge Railway should be extended to Lincoln and later to York. The proposed route had been surveyed by John and George Rennie in 1827, with trains crossing the Fens on the level, turning west through the Gap, then north up the Trent Valley to Yorkshire.


All but one of the proposals coming from the south made use of the Lincoln Gap, but many alternative ways to it were suggested. The two main options were lines coming over the Fens from the direction of Cambridge, and those, usually by way of Peterborough, that linked to existing lines there and offered the possibility of a faster, more direct, passage to the capital.


Before anyone could start to build a new line, a lengthy process of preparation and parliamentary scrutiny had to be gone through. A company would first be set up to raise enough money to survey the proposed route and assess its commercial prospects. If that was successful a bill was then presented to Parliament to allow the company to be formally established and to give it powers including the right to acquire land by compulsory purchase, cross highways and waterways and establish fair arbitration procedures to settle disputes. At this point, opposition was likely to be met by rival railway or canal companies, private landowners and others affected by the plans. Many projects failed at this stage, but even those that passed were not guaranteed an easy progression. All the restrictions and requirements built into the bill would be closely scrutinized by opponents, who would also be able to object to the modifications to the initial plans that were almost inevitable once the line began to be built. Approval also committed the new company to building the line as proposed; it could not suddenly decide to simply give up without getting parliamentary approval for that, since other parties would be considered to have lost out by any such abandonment.
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‘Lincoln from the Great Northern Railway’ as drawn in 1852 by Rock & Co. of London, incorporating a paddle steamer and some early train spotters. If the perspective is correct, the bridge is probably that of the MS&L line to Grimsby. LINCS TO THE PAST. REF LCL 6692





Even when the line was completed, officialdom had a further role to play, in that an inspector, usually from the Board of Trade, had to pass the works as being fit for purpose. Many schemes, trying to reduce costs and get an income from traffic as quickly as possible, found that their plans were held up by a failed inspection.


The argument about how Lincoln was to be served was long and complicated. Ruddock and Pearson, in their Railway History of Lincoln (1985), identified thirty different possibilities, proposals and parliamentary applications between that first suggestion in 1821 and a train actually turning its wheels in the county in the middle 1840s. The principal companies involved included the Grand Northern, rejected by Parliament in 1836, and the Great Northern – not the later successful contender, but another using the name – which also failed to get parliamentary backing. Both would have approached from the Cambridge direction, as would the Northern and Eastern and an early London and York. But, in 1844, the Cambridge and York, originally planned to come from Cambridge by way of Peterborough then through the Fens, changed its mind and surveyed a line direct from Peterborough to London. It then took the name of the London and York and amalgamated with the Direct Northern, the only company that did not want to pass through the Lincoln Gap, planning instead to take a harder, but faster, run from Peterborough to Grantham, and on through Gainsborough to the north, with branches to Lincoln and Retford.


The combined London & York and Direct Northern companies, taking the name of the Great Northern, then modified its line from Grantham to go on through Newark and Retford to Doncaster, with much of the drive for the change coming from Edmund Denison, the MP for Doncaster, later Chairman of the GNR. This line missed Lincoln and Gainsborough completely, but both were put back on their map after the Lincolnshire Loop Line, by way of Spalding and Boston, was added to their plans. This was achieved by absorbing the proposed Wakefield, Lincoln and Boston Railway, which planned to follow the River Witham between Lincoln and Boston.


The package seemed to offer a combination of advantages, including the fast link to the north; a relatively direct, albeit slow, route from Lincoln to London; the possibility of some early earnings from the easily built Loop Line and a block to proposals by the Eastern Counties. However, the battle for Lincoln was not yet over.
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Alternative routes from London to York as planned by 1845. The London Direct routes were all built by 1852, other than the direct Peterborough to Lincoln and Grantham to Gainsborough connections, neither of which were added later. The Eastern approach was later connected from March through Spalding and Sleaford as far as Lincoln with the opening of the Great Northern & Great Eastern Joint Railway in 1882. The direct Lincoln to York connection, avoiding Doncaster, was never built. MS&L lines and the East Lincolnshire Railway are also shown. The MS&L Gainsborough to Retford tracks were used by the Great Northern before the Gainsborough to Doncaster section was completed as part of the Joint.





The Railway King Takes an Interest


The Midland Railway, or, perhaps more to the point, its chairman, George Hudson, known as the Railway King, was determined that a rival, faster, route to York, other than that offered by companies he controlled, should not be established. Hudson was also chairman of the Eastern Counties Railway and became one of the key drivers of that route option. Back in the 1830s, the Midland Counties Railway, one of the founding companies of the Midland, had proposed a line from Lincoln to their own line at Nottingham. Another possibility was the Swinton, Doncaster and Lincoln Railway, linking the city with lines to Doncaster and into Yorkshire. Proposed in 1844, it was intended to connect to lines south of the city, either by way of Ely, Wisbech and Boston or through St Ives and Peterborough – a proposal that only failed to receive parliamentary approval because of errors in the documentation submitted to the House of Commons.


The chaotic situation in Parliament, with a large number of bills presented in 1844, all proposing variations on much the same theme, led to the setting up of an inquiry by the Board of Trade. Given the task of considering ‘the schemes for extending railway communication between London and York’, it quickly decided that there was a need for such improvement. It threw out the Midland’s ideas as being too circuitous, and felt that the Towns Line would be too expensive to build, but failed to back one single project from among the other possibilities. It did recommend that the line to Lincoln by way of Cambridge was the best option for the southern section, but then backed the Direct Northern’s plans north of the city, by way of Gainsborough, which had already been rejected by Parliament.


Confusion in Lincoln


The City of Lincoln itself had taken an active part in these discussions. A committee there had looked at all the proposals as they stood in the middle 1830s, and had come down, not surprisingly, in favour of a direct route to London, rather than cutting across to the Midlands. They backed the Grand Northern, rather than the first Great Northern, although they felt the Grand Northern’s overall plans were too ambitious. Ironically, the City Corporation then backed the Great Northern scheme in Parliament, but to no avail when the bill was thrown out.


Interest was renewed in the 1840s as the options became clearer. Meetings in Lincoln considered the merits of the various cases, including arguments that local traders would find more benefit from the Wakefield–Lincoln–Boston–Peterborough Line than from one to the capital, since coal could be brought in more cheaply from Yorkshire and local livestock farmers could cut the cost of taking animals to that county by between 30 and 50 per cent. To appreciate those benefits, it is estimated that Lincoln received 70,000 tons of coal a year and 20,000 tons of agricultural commodities, such as fertilizer and animal feed, while over 100,000 head of livestock could be expected to head in the opposite direction. The benefits to other parts of the county could be expected to be even greater, since Lincoln was served by the Fossdyke Canal, enabling bulk commodities to be transported more easily than by road. As the London and York pointed out in its 1844 prospectus, this ‘most extensive and richly agricultural district in England’ stood to gain ‘daily opportunities of sending their fat cattle in a few hours’ to markets ‘without the great loss in weight and value … by travelling for days together on a turnpike road’, as well as offering facilities ‘for the shipment of grain, malt and flour, cattle and wool, into the manufacturing districts of Yorkshire and Lancashire’.


The publication of the Board of Trade report in March 1845 set off another round of meetings and speculation. The towns that looked likely to lose out if the recommendations were followed made their views known, and three gatherings were held in Lincoln. The first, organized by groups in favour of the lines supported by the report, saw more than a thousand people, mostly from the City, turn out to vote in their favour. This was followed a few days later by a public meeting, attended by large groups who travelled from all over the area by horse, foot, coach and river-packet to meet in the Castle Yard. This second meeting was a public affair, with supporters from both sides present – the Doncaster, Nottingham and Lincoln Gazette described ‘twelve stage-coaches, each with four horses’, as well as ‘thirteen vehicles, each having a pair, and some three, horses’ setting out from Newark to support the direct line, while three packet-boats from Boston came to ensure their town was served.


A noisy meeting ‘much interrupted by loud outbursts of cheering and hooting’ as well as accusations that half-crown (12½p) bribes had been paid to attend, saw numbers of votes taken with no conclusive answer. A result was only achieved when a delayed boat-load of 300 persons from Boston arrived to swing the decision in favour of the London and York/Great Northern proposals to build both the Towns Line and the Lincolnshire Loop. A third session, moved from the Guildhall to the cattle market because of the numbers present, first removed the Mayor from the chair on the grounds of his perceived support for the London and York, then declared unanimous support for the Cambridge Line. The meeting then broke up in what was variously described as ‘disorder’, ‘chaos’ and ‘a riot’. The Lincoln Town Council then declared that the meeting had been closed when the Mayor was removed from the chair, that the resolution was therefore void, and they backed the Great Northern. When the deputation from Grantham – ‘nearly 500 strong’ – got back that night , they were met by ‘the cheers of the assembled crowds that waited to greet them’.


Parliament Plays its Part


The arguments then moved on to Parliament, which duly threw out all the plans in the 1845 session, with diligent and determined opposition from supporters of George Hudson a key element in the failures. Opposition was not due solely to the empire-building plans of Hudson and his colleagues – there were major financial considerations for individual shareholders. A London merchant, Henry Bruce appears in The Times in 1845, having petitioned the House of Commons against the London and York Railway, alleging that £500,000 of its £5,000,000 investment was fraudulent. In his later will he left over £35,000 in Eastern Counties (Cambridge and Lincoln) stock, which would presumably have been of much greater value if the line had been built.


The financial arguments continued into 1845 alongside the political ones. An offer by Eastern Counties shareholders to those of the London and York if they dropped their plans was not taken up, nor was a proposal to merge the two. A merger did take place, though, between the Direct Northern and the London and York as the Great Northern Railway, which received its royal assent in June 1846. Also approved was a partner company, the East Lincolnshire Railway, running from a junction with the GNR at Boston up the east side of the county, linking Alford, Louth and Grimsby. The news caused the Newark bells to be rung in celebration, while in Lincoln ‘a grand display of fireworks is to be exhibited in the market-place’ and ‘in the evening the Montgolfier balloon to ascend’ – one hopes not in the vicinity of the fireworks!


The Midland Gets In First
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The Midland station at Stamford, looking east. The first services in the county began from just beyond the tunnel in the distance. D.N. ROBINSON





Newark would also have been pleased to hear that another line would be passing through their town, since the Midland Railway had obtained parliamentary approval for its line from Nottingham to Lincoln by way of Newark. The same company had also gained approval for a line from Syston in Leicestershire, on the company’s main line, to Peterborough, passing through Stamford. The distance actually travelled in Lincolnshire was small, but it did give the town bragging rights as being the first in the county to be served by a railway. A section of the line from Peterborough to a temporary station opened for traffic in July 1846, beating the same company’s service into Lincoln, which did not start until 4 August.


Rails to Grimsby


Although the north–south routes through the county attracted most of the early attention, other companies were laying their plans to serve the county. In the north, a new grouping was being established to link the port of Grimsby with the industrial areas to the west of Lincolnshire. The old-established Grimsby Haven Company, which became the Grimsby Docks Company in 1845, wanted to be able to find markets for the catch from rich new fishing grounds being established in the North Sea. They promoted the Great Grimsby and Sheffield Junction Railway (GG&SJR) to link the town with New Holland and Gainsborough. Another line, the Sheffield and Lincolnshire Junction Railway (S&LJR), would extend the GG&SJR from Gainsborough to join a third, and longer-established line, the Sheffield, Ashtonunder-Lyne and Manchester Railway. Although the three were nominally independent companies, all were well represented on each other’s boards and they merged to create the Manchester, Sheffield and Lincolnshire Railway (MS&LR) in 1847. Although Hull did not appear in any of the various titles, it was obviously intended to be a target market, since the GG&SJR planned to run to New Holland and buy the ferry service from there to Hull. The ferries and the Grimsby Docks Company all became part of the MS&LR.


Other ideas for lines to serve Grimsby or Hull by way of the north of Lincolnshire had been proposed. They included the Manchester, Midland and Great Grimsby Junction; the Hull, Lincoln and Nottingham; the Northampton, Lincoln and Hull Direct; the Derby, Gainsborough and Great Grimsby Junction and the Lincoln and Great Grimsby, all of which failed to attract sufficient support nationally or locally. One scheme that might have thrived was the Gainsborough and Hull Railway, but the MS&LR group disposed of that potential rival by buying off the promoters with a payment of £6,000.
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Cancelled share certificate for the Great Grimsby and Sheffield Junction Railway Company.







WHO PAID THE FERRYMEN?
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The MS&L New Holland Ferry. ILLUSTRATED LONDON NEWS





Although the GG&SJR planned to take over the New Holland ferries, they would not be able to do so until their company gained parliamentary approval. Rumours began to circulate that another railway company, operating on the north bank of the Humber, was looking to buy the boats, properties and legal rights, so a group of members of the railway committee purchased the business under their own names for £10,000. According to a newspaper report at the time, this was on behalf of the railway, but when it came to a transfer, the new owners charged themselves as a railway committee the dramatically increased sum of £21,000. A nice little earner, as one might say today, but the deal came back to bite the perpetrators later, when other shareholders became suspicious of a number of deals done in the early days. The board was reorganized to the detriment of the ferry group, and some of them had to pay back part of their profits.





It may seem surprising that the industrial centre of Scunthorpe did not feature on these early railway plans, but up to the 1860s it was just one of a group of small villages that occupied the site of the present town. It wasn’t until the rediscovery of iron ore – our friends the Romans had known about it 2,000 years earlier! – that the development of the Scunthorpe we know now occurred. It is interesting to speculate as to whether the decisions on the routes to the north might have been different if the town had been as significant in the 1840s as it became later in the nineteenth century.
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Manchester, Sheffield and Lincolnshire Railway lines in Lincolnshire in 1850.





The main line of the GG&SJR through Brigg to Gainsborough received royal assent in 1845, along with a branch to Market Rasen, which was approved for extension to Lincoln the following year. The Sheffield and Lincolnshire Junction Railway had also promoted the Sheffield and Lincolnshire Extension Railway from their line at Clarborough in Nottinghamshire to cross the Trent at Torksey and continue into Lincoln. That line was also approved.


The first board meeting of the amalgamated Manchester, Sheffield and Lincolnshire Railway took place on 6 January 1847, and work on the line began almost immediately.


More Ways to Boston


In the north of the county, the Humber was the principal block to lines that might have gone beyond its south bank, although one project, in 1872, did envisage tunnelling under the estuary, but that was thrown out by Parliament on the grounds of ‘engineering difficulties’. The result was that lines to Grimsby, in particular, approached the town from the south and, eventually, the west, but not from the north. Further south, Boston, the second-largest town in the county, featured in the plans of a large number of lines, but few saw the town itself as a primary objective. This concerned the merchants and traders of the port, which had a well-established North Sea and Baltic trade going back to the days of the Hanseatic League. To them, the Midlands were the prime objective – as one line proposal put it ‘Boston was the closest port to Birmingham – offering return cargoes of manufactured goods or of coal from the Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire mines to the ship owners bringing in timber and other goods from Germany and Scandinavia’.


The town had declared its intention to only support lines that terminated ‘as near as possible to the centre of the borough … and to oppose to the uttermost all others avoiding the town’. Branches of the Cambridge and Lincoln to Boston and Sleaford could have connected to one from the Newark and Sheffield Railway, while the Eastern Counties wanted links to Boston, but neither offered guarantees of transportation further west than Sleaford or Market Deeping. The Boston, Stamford and Birmingham Railway was approved by Parliament, but decided that they would only build the section from Stamford to Wisbech, then failed to carry that through.


Of all the options put forward, only the Ambergate, Nottingham and Boston and Eastern Junction Railway set out to do just what Boston wanted. Planned to serve Grantham, Sleaford and Spalding, in addition to Nottingham and Boston, the Ambergate bought out rival promoters with its own shares. It also took control of the Grantham and Nottingham Canals – a frequent move by railways companies that reduced the parliamentary opposition likely from waterway owners, as well as preventing a rail versus water fares battle breaking out. The same fate was suffered by the Witham and Fossdyke Navigations at the hands of the Great Northern, and the Louth Navigation by the East Lincolnshire; but it usually proved to be beneficial to the canal owners who received a payment in cash or railway shares. Where a waterway was in competition with a railway, as in the case of the Horncastle Canal, financial collapse usually followed.


Many other lines were proposed for Lincolnshire during the 1840s railway mania, but most failed either at the planning stage or in Parliament. Some, such as the ‘Bridge-End, Burton Pedwardine, Scredington, Three Queens and Midland Junction Railway’, which ‘Messrs Bubble and Squeak of Scredington and Mr Timothy Teazer from Burton Pedwardine’ put forward in the Stamford Mercury, were never intended to be taken seriously in the first place! More lines would be coming to the county, but all would depend on connections with, or support from, lines that had already passed those hurdles, and these will be dealt with later. By 1846, the lawyers, bankers and surveyors had done their job – as had more than a few hucksters and swindlers – but a route map for the first tranche of railways in Lincolnshire was complete. It was now time for the engineers and the builders to take over.




CHAPTER 3


The Builders Arrive


Who Were the Workers?


Railway building in the 1840s was a high-manpower business. Most of the work was done by men with picks and shovels, helped where necessary by blasting techniques based on 1,500-year-old Chinese gunpowder technology. A select group of professional engineers and surveyors were supported by craftsmen such as carpenters, blacksmiths, masons and bricklayers, in turn backed up by gangs of labourers. These could be brought in from outside, but were more often local land-workers enticed away by better rates of pay, albeit at greater risk of injury or even death. It was a substantial army of workers – it has been estimated that, at the height of the railway-building boom of the 1840s, about 200,000 men were building railways, rather more than the total British armed forces at the time. Like those forces, it had its own hierarchy.
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